
COMPLAINT FOR RELIEF 
UNDER THE CLEAN AIR ACT 

Civil No. ___________________

Assigned Judge/Magistrate:

_____________________________

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

__________________________________________X
 
FINGER LAKES ZERO WASTE COALITION, INC.
P.O. Box 865 
Geneva NY 14456, and 

KATHERINE M. BENNETT ROLL, as president of Finger Lakes
  Zero Waste Coalition, Inc.
3688 Number Nine Road
Geneva, NY 14456

Plaintiffs,

v.     
    
GINA McCARTHY, in her official
  capacity as Administrator, 
  United States Environmental      
Protection Agency,
1200 Pennsylvania Ave, NW
Washington, D.C. 20460

and 

THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION AGENCY

Defendants.
__________________________________________X

Plaintiffs allege on information and belief as follows:

NATURE OF THIS ACTION

1.  This is a civil action for declaratory and injunctive

relief under the Federal Clean Air Act (“the Act”), 42 U.S.C. §§

7401 through 7671q.  This action seeks relief from the failure of

defendant Gina McCarthy, Administrator of the Environmental
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Protection Agency (“EPA”), to perform her non-discretionary duty

to grant or deny an administrative petition submitted to EPA by

the Plaintiffs pursuant to §505(b)(2) of the Act, 42 U.S.C.

§7661d(b)(2).   The petition that gives rise to this action seeks

EPA’s objection to a landfill gas-to-energy facility operating

permit issued by the New York State Department of Environmental

Conservation (“NYSDEC”).  Under the § 505(b)(2) of the Act, 42

U.S.C §7661d(b)(2), EPA was required to grant or deny the

petition within 60 days after it was filed.  Though well over 60

days has passed since Plaintiffs filed their petition, EPA has

not granted or denied any the petition.

JURISDICTION

2.  This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the

claim set forth in this complaint pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §

7604(a)(2) (citizen suit provision of Clean Air Act), 28 U.S.C. §

1331 (federal question statute), and 28 U.S.C. § 2201

(declaratory judgment statute).  The relief requested is

authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and 42 U.S.C. § 7604.

3.  Venue is proper in the Western District of New York

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(2) because a substantial part of

the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in the

Western District of New York.
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NOTICE

4.  On May 16, 2014, Plaintiffs provided notice to the EPA

Administrator of plaintiffs' intent to file a citizen suit due to

EPA’s failure to comply with the 60-day deadline under 42 U.S.C

§7661d(b)(2) for granting or denying the petition identified in

Counts one through six of this complaint.  The notice letter

filed with respect to the petition involved in this action

complies with § 304 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(2), and 40

C.F.R. Part 54.

5.  More than 60 days have passed since the postmark on the

notice letter. See 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(2). Defendant violated and

remains in violation of 42 U.S.C §7661d(b)(2) by failing to grant

or deny Plaintiff’s petition.

PARTIES

6.  Plaintiff Katherine M. Bennett Roll lives and owns

property on Number Nine Road, in Geneva, New York, approximately

1,000 yards from the landfill gas-to-energy facility.

7.  Plaintiff Finger Lakes Zero Waste Coalition, Inc.,

(hereafter, “FLZWC”), was incorporated on February 17, 2009 under

New York’s Not-for-Profit Corporation Law corporate status, with

a mission “to promote air and water quality in the Finger Lakes

Region of New York State in order to protect community health; to

stimulate public interest and awareness in the areas of waste

Case 6:14-cv-06542   Document 1   Filed 09/16/14   Page 3 of 7



reduction, responsible recycling and renewable energy; to

cooperate with similar organizations in carrying out any of the

purposes for which the organization is formed; and to engage in

legislative activities in support of the purposes for which the

organization is formed.”

8.  Pursuant to its mission, on December 22, 2012 FLZWC

filed the administrative petition seeking EPA’s non-discretionary

action that provides the underlying subject of this complaint.

9.  Plaintiffs’ petition alleges, among other things, that

the Clean Air Act, Title V permit issued for the landfill gas-to-

energy facility is based on an incomplete permit application,

fails to include adequate monitoring and reporting of compliance

with air quality requirements, and illegally sanctions the

violation of applicable requirements under the Act. While EPA

delays action on Plaintiffs’ petition, the facility that is the

subject of the petition is allowed to operate pursuant to a

defective permit.  Thus, Plaintiffs are directly and adversely

impacted by EPA’s delay in granting or denying the petition.

10.  Defendant Gina McCarthy is the Administrator of the

Environmental Protection Agency.  The Administrator is

responsible for implementing the Clean Air Act, including the

requirement to grant or deny Plaintiffs’ petition within 60 days

after they were filed.  Defendant United States Environmental

Protection Agency is an agency of the United States Government.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

11.  On December 22, 2012, Plaintiffs filed a petition with

EPA seeking EPA’s objection to the Clean Air Act Title V

operating permit issued by NYSDEC to the Ontario County Landfill

Gas-to-Energy Facility, and operated by Seneca Energy II, LLC

(“SE”) (Permit I.D. DEC 8-3244-00040/00002) pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 7661d(b)(2) (the “petition”). 

12.  The SE facility is a major air pollution source located

on the site of the Ontario County Landfill (“the landfill”), in

the Village of Stanley, New York, with a business office at 2999

Judge Road, in the Cit of Oakfield, New York.

13.  PlaintiffS filed the petition within 60 days after the

expiration of EPA’s 45 day period for review of the then-proposed

Title V permit consistent with U.S.C. § 7661d(b)(2). 

14.  Plaintiff’s petition was based upon objections raised

during the public comment period consistent with U.S.C. §

7661d(b)(2).

15.  PlaintiffS’ petition complies fully with 42 U.S.C. §

7661d(b)(2).

16.  Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7661d(b)(2), EPA had 60 days to

grant or deny Plaintiffs’ petition.

17.  More than 60 days have passed since EPA received

Plaintiff’s petition and EPA has not granted or denied
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Plaintiff’s petition.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Failure to Respond to Petition

18.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in Paragraphs 1 through 18 as though fully

set forth.

19.  On December 22, 2012, Plaintiffs filed their petition

with EPA pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7661d(b)(2).

20.  EPA failed to grant or deny Plaintiffs’ petition within

60 days, has not granted or denied Plaintiffs’ petition after

more than eighteen months, and has not granted or denied

Plaintiffs’ petition as of the date of this complaint.

21.  EPA has violated, and is in violation of, its

non-discretionary duty to grant or deny Plaintiffs’ petition

within 60 days as required by 42 U.S.C. § 7661d(b).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Honorable Court:

22.  DECLARE that Defendants’ failure to perform their

nondiscretionary duty to grant or deny Plaintiffs’ administrative

petition within sixty days is a violation of §505(b) of the Clean

Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §7661d(b);

23.  ORDER Defendants to grant or deny the petition within
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

 

!
FINGER LAKES ZERO WASTE COALITION, INC., and!

KATHERINE M. BENNETT ROLL

!
GINA McCARTHY, Administrator, and!

THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY

!
!
GINA McCARTHY, Administrator!
United States Environmental Protection Agency!
1200 Pennsylvania Ave, NW !
Washington, D.C. 20460
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CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

 

!
FINGER LAKES ZERO WASTE COALITION, INC., and!

KATHERINE M. BENNETT ROLL

!
GINA McCARTHY, Administrator, and!

THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY

!
!
Eric H. Holder, Jr., U.S. Attorney General!
U.S. Department of Justice!
Civil Division!
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.!
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001
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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Federal Rule 7.1, Petitioner FlNGER LAKES ZERO WASTE COALITION, INC.

states that this Petitioner has no parent corporation.

Respectfully submitted,

FINGER LAKES ZERO WASTE COALITION, INC.,

by its attorney,

Abraham, 11

Attorney for Plaintiffs
170 No. Second Street

Allegany, New York 14706

(716) 372-1913


